No. 72012-1-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBECCA A. RUFIN,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

V.

CITY OF SEATTLE and JORGE CARRASCO,

Defendants/Respondents,

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Beth M. Andrus)

Case No. 11-2-01374-7

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 The Sheridan Law Firm, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949 jack@sheridanlawfirm.com Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

In 2006 and 2007, Rebecca Rufin opposed gender discrimination by Seattle City Light ("SCL") Superintendent Jorge Carrasco. Mr.

Carrasco subsequently made her work environment intolerable, causing

Ms. Rufin to leave SCL for the City's Parks Department.

In 2010, 2011, and 2012, Ms. Rufin sought to return to Seattle City Light by applying for two (2) positions: a Civil / Mechanical Engineer Manager ("CMEM") position and a Large Projects Senior Manager ("LPSM") position. Throughout the hiring processes for both positions, Ms. Rufin was the top candidate or a top candidate until Mr. Carrasco's direct reports intervened and her promising candidacy abruptly ended. One of the hiring managers who was involved in both processes told Ms. Rufin that the decision not to hire her was "political." Therefore Ms. Rufin sought to meet directly with Mr. Carrasco regarding the situation, but Mr. Carrasco declined to do so. Instead, the City's Human Resources Officer met with Ms. Rufin at Mr. Carrasco's direction. She told Ms. Rufin that she had "burned her bridges" and would never be considered for any future management positions at Seattle City Light.

Ms. Rufin filed suit under RCW 49.60, et seq., claiming, inter alia, that the City's failure to hire her for either of the two positions was retaliation. The City and Mr. Carrasco moved for summary judgment. The

trial court denied summary judgment as to Ms. Rufin's claim for retaliation with respect to non-hiring for the CMEM job; yet dismissed her claim related to the City's contemporaneous non-hiring of her for the LPSM job.

Ms. Rufin moved for reconsideration, arguing that under the evidence presented claims for retaliation based on the two non-hirings should have survived summary judgment to be tried to a jury together; or both should have been dismissed. Ms. Rufin's motion for reconsideration was denied.

The trial court also granted a motion in limine that excluded all evidence and testimony about the City's failure to hire Ms. Rufin for the LPSM job during the same period it refused to hire her for the CMEM job.

Due to the Court's rulings, the jury deliberated without knowing that the City passed Ms. Rufin over for promotion not once, but twice under a similar fact pattern and during the same time frame. The two retaliation claims were similar and overlapping. Each was circumstantial evidence that supported the other. Yet, the jury was only permitted to learn about one of the claims in isolation.

At trial, over the objections of Ms. Rufin's counsel, the court also admitted into evidence the "no finding of discrimination" outcome of the City's 2006 internal investigation into a gender discrimination complaint

that Ms. Rufin had supported (the "Tobin" matter). The trial court also admitted testimony that the 2007 litigation in which Ms. Rufin had testified about Mr. Carrasco (the "Davis" matter) was dismissed on summary judgment. The trial court granted a motion in limine that barred Ms. Rufin from presenting most of the evidence underlying either the Tobin or Davis matters.

Based on the limited retaliation claim and evidence allowed by the trial court, the jury returned a verdict for the City.

Summary judgment should be reversed as to the LPSM retaliation claim and the case should be remanded for a new trial on Ms. Rufin's claims for retaliation with respect to the non-hiring for both the CMEM and LPSM positions, in order that the jury may review the allegations together and consider all of the circumstantial evidence supportive of the retaliation claim.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

- The trial court erred in granting the City's motion for summary judgment, when it dismissed Plaintiff's WLAD retaliation claim with respect to non-hiring for the Large Projects Senior Manager ("LPSM") position, while denying the motion with respect to non-hiring for the Civil / Mechanical Engineer Manager ("CMEM") position. (CP 3131-32, 2444)
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion when it excluded from trial of the retaliation claim for non-hiring for the CMEM position all evidence about the City's similar treatment of Ms. Rufin in

the contemporaneous LPSM hiring process. (CP 3519, RP (Mar. 27, 2014), at 46-47, 80-82; RP (Apr. 3, 2014) at 64; RP (Apr. 7, 2014) at 63)

3. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting over objection, evidence that an internal investigation exonerated Carrasco regarding Ms. Tobin's discrimination claims and that a federal claim by Ms. Davis against Carrasco was dismissed at summary judgment, which should have been excluded under ER 402 and 403, because Carrasco denied knowing that Rufin gave a statement or testimony in either case, making any discussion of the outcomes irrelevant and prejudicial bolstering. (CP 3517 (¶ 9), CP 3518-19 (¶¶ 16.a., 16.b.); RP (Apr. 9, 2014), at 17:5-16, 107:19-109:17).

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. When two acts of retaliation are closely related in time and involve the same actors, whether the trial court errs when it dismisses one claim at summary judgment, but allows the other claim to go to trial?
- After dismissing one retaliation claim, whether the trial court errs when it rules that no evidence of the second retaliation claim may be presented at trial under ER 403.
- 3. After Defendant Carrasco denied at trial that he knew that Rufin had provided a statement and testimony in connection with the claims of discrimination by Seattle City Light employees Betty Tobin and Wanda Davis, whether it is an abuse of discretion to allow over objection evidence that an internal investigation exonerated Carrasco regarding Tobin and that a federal claim by Davis against Carrasco was dismissed at summary judgment?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The City and Superintendent Jorge Carrasco Engaged in Gender Discrimination During Ms. Rufin's Tenure at Seattle City Light, Resulting in Her Departure From the Agency.

Prior to 2004, before Mr. Carrasco took over as Superintendent of

SCL, Ms. Rufin was a respected leader, manager, and engineer at SCL. CP 575-77 (¶¶ 8-9, 13-14). But after Mr. Carrasco became Superintendent of SCL, Ms. Rufin's accomplishments were ignored, and the communications chain changed markedly and meetings with the superintendent became extremely rare. CP 578 (¶15-17). Mr. Carrasco ignored and dismissed Ms. Rufin's work, he avoided communicating with her as much as possible, and he refused to meet with Rufin for positions at SCL for which she was qualified. CP 578-597 (¶¶ 17-20, 27-28, 32-33, 35, 42, 48, 53-58). Mr. Carrasco openly minimized and dismissed Ms. Rufin's work in meeting with other coworkers, and questioned her role, and the role of other women, within the organization. Id. Under Carrasco's leadership, Rufin no longer received the recognition, gratitude, acknowledgment, and career advancement opportunities she had under prior leadership. Id. Mr. Carrasco ignored Rufin's accomplished skills in asset management and repeatedly stated publicly that SCL needed to go outside the organization, and increase compensation levels, to obtain someone with skills in asset management. CP 580 (¶19), CP 651. Mr. Carrasco cut Ms. Rufin off in the middle of a presentation she was giving, told her the project rating system she was using was not a proper ranking system without allowing her to explain how the system was used in conjunction with other asset management considerations, questioned her

role within the organization and her ability to do her job, questioned her involvement in the budget, and would not allow her to finish her explanations, sent her patronizing emails, and was rude to her in public settings. CP 578-79 (¶ 18), CP 585-86 (¶ 32).

In 2004, when Ms. Rufin applied for a temporary assignment to Special Assistant to the Superintendent, Mr. Carrasco declined to even interview her and explained only that he "liked the project orientation" of the male candidate. CP 580 (¶ 20). During the 2005 reorganization, led by Mr. Carrasco, none of the consultants he hired ever talked to her, although they met repeatedly with male employees at her level in the organization. CP 583 (¶ 27). As a result of the reorganization, Ms. Rufin essentially had to reapply for her job, since all positions at her level were redefined. CP 568. After successfully completing the first interview for the position that most closely matched her prior position, she received notification that she would receive a second interview. *Id.* However, no second interview was scheduled and she was informed by the hiring authority for the job that Mr. Carrasco headed up the second interview process for all candidates, and that Mr. Carrasco had declined to interview Ms. Rufin. CP 587-89.

Ms. Rufin witnessed other women in technical positions at SCL being discriminated against by Mr. Carrasco. CP 580-81, 583, 587, 588-92, 594-595 (¶ 21, 27, 36, 39-40, 43, 51, 53). Her female colleague, Betty

Tobin, complained that Mr. Carrasco engaged in the same kind of discriminatory treatment towards her. *Id*.

By March 2006, Ms. Rufin's experience with SCL had changed drastically under Carrasco's leadership. CP 577-78 (¶ 15). She no longer felt respected or encouraged, her input and opinions were not valued by Carrasco, she was not promoted, and was in fact demoted, in the reorganization. CP 578-94 (¶¶ 16-48). Rufin then decided to accept a position with the Parks Department as the Engineering Manager, a position she still holds today. CP 592-94 (¶¶ 44, 49). In terms of advancing at the Parks Department, Rufin cannot advance in an engineering capacity because she is currently at the highest rank that requires an engineering degree. *Id*.

B. Rufin Reported and Opposed Gender Discrimination by Seattle City Light Superintendent Jorge Carrasco.

On January 12, 2006, Rebecca Rufin provided a statement to the City Mayor's office titled "Written Statement Regarding Possible Discriminatory Practices at Seattle City Light" in which she recounted Jorge Carrasco's discriminatory conduct towards her. CP1696-699. She submitted the statement in support of a gender discrimination complaint made by Seattle City Light employee Betty Tobin. *Id.* In her 4-page single-spaced statement, Ms. Rufin provided detailed allegations about: her experience working with Mr. Carrasco; Mr. Carrasco's hostility

towards her and other female employees; Mr. Carrasco's failure to advance Ms. Rufin and another qualified female candidate, Ms. Tobin, through a promotional process; Mr. Carrasco's complimentary comments about male candidates, and his failure to even interview well-qualified female candidates; and Mr. Carrasco's participation in the hiring process and interview questions designed to determine how "loyal" candidates would be to him. *Id.* Ms. Rufin's statement concluded with the following:

Whether the above-described incidents can be construed as discrimination on the part of Jorge Carrasco or others is not for me to decide. It does appear to me that Betty Tobin and myself are being treated differently from others with regard to the director hiring process, that this treatment is unfair, and that [it] is originating in the Superintendent's office....

CP 1699. The City's investigator, attorney Lawton Humphrey, interviewed Ms. Rufin on January 13, 2006. See CP 2224, 2205.

In October 2006, Wanda Davis filed a lawsuit against the City of Seattle alleging that she had experienced gender discrimination at Seattle City Light. See CP 2229. On September 20, 2007, Ms. Rufin was deposed in the Davis matter and questioned about her experience at Seattle City Light and her allegations that Mr. Carrasco discriminated against her based on her gender. CP 2081-2094. Ms. Rufin testified that:

- Betty Tobin made allegations about Carrasco's discrimination against women and asked her to participate in the investigation, which she did. CP 2082.
- She prepared a written statement as part of the investigation. *Id*.

- She believed there may be gender discrimination at Seattle City Light, and Mr. Carrasco's actions appeared to be discriminatory. CP 2087.
- She and Tobin were being treated differently than others regarding the hiring process and the treatment originated at the Superintendent's office. CP 2091.
- She discussed with Ms. Tobin her perception that Mr. Carrasco may be discriminating against her because she is a woman. Id.
- She met with several other female employees at Seattle City Light about possible discrimination. CP 2093-94.

C. Superintendent Carrasco Was Informed of Ms. Rufin's Allegations of Gender Discrimination in 2006 and 2007.

On January 23, 2006—two weeks after Ms. Rufin provided her written statement about gender discrimination and was interviewed by Ms. Humphrey—Ms. Humphrey interviewed Jorge Carrasco. *See* CP 2224. During his interview, Ms. Humphrey questioned Mr. Carrasco about the allegations against him, CP 1984 (119:12-14; 120:9-17), and he was later informed about the outcome of the investigation. *Id.* (121: 4-11). Mr. Carrasco admits that Ms. Humphrey informed him that certain persons had complained that he mistreated women and informed him of those allegations, CP 2011 (36:5-8, 36:17-22), though he claims he does not remember the details of his discussion with Ms. Humphrey. *Id.* (35:9-15).

On March 3, 2006, Ms. Humphrey authored a 9-page memo titled "Rebecca (Becky) Rufin Follow-up." The City identified this document in discovery, but refused to produce it. CP 2257. Mr. Carrasco admits that if someone alleges discrimination involving Seattle City Light, he expects to be apprised of the allegations. CP 1993 (157:1-20).

Mr. Carrasco was deposed in the *Davis* lawsuit on October 16, 2007—four weeks after the deposition of Ms. Rufin. *See* CP 1979, 2081. He answered questions about the investigation of Ms. Tobin's 2006 complaint and acknowledged that he knew she made allegations of gender discrimination, that he was interviewed about her allegations, and that he was informed of the outcome of the investigation. CP 1984, 1988. Mr. Carrasco denied knowledge that Ms. Tobin alleged that there was a "perception that women are being treated more harshly in disciplinary matters than are males," CP 1987, but was made aware of that allegation through counsel's questioning. *Id.* In the same deposition, three questions later, plaintiff's counsel questioned Mr. Carrasco about the work performance of Ms. Rufin and her unsuccessful candidacy for the Power Supply Asset Management Director position. CP 1987-88.

- D. In 2010, 2011, and 2012, Rufin Attempted to Return to Seattle City Light by Applying for Its Civil Mechanical Engineering Manager ("CMEM") Position.
 - 1. Rufin's November 2010 Application for CMEM Position: She is the Only Candidate Rated "High" by Each Resume Rater; City Ends Hiring Process.

In November 2010, Ms. Rufin sought to return to Seattle City Light when she applied for a job titled Civil Mechanical Engineering Manager ("CMEM"). CP 625. After the City conducted a minimum qualifications screening, a resume review panel of three persons rated four applicants, including Ms. Rufin. CP1133 (¶ 6). The panelists could rate the applicants "low" "medium" or "high." *Id.* CP 1141. Ms. Rufin was the *only* candidate rated "high" by all three resume raters. CP 1140-43.¹ The hiring process ended there. For several months, Ms. Rufin did not receive any communications from the City regarding the status of her application until she ran into one of the resume raters, David Holmes. CP 625. Mr. Holmes told her that someone had "complained" and the hiring process came to a halt. CP 626.

2. Rufin's August 2011 Application for CMEM Position: She is the Only Candidate Rated "High" By Each Resume Rater and Each Interview Panelist, and is Selected For Hire, Until Carrasco's Direct Report Intervenes; City Offers Job to Male Candidate.

In August 2011, Ms. Rufin submitted her application for the CMEM position, again, after she was contacted by Marsha Brown, executive assistant to Mike Haynes, who encouraged her to reapply. *Id*.

Mr. Haynes was the hiring manager for the CMEM position, meaning that he was the person who had the ultimate authority to hire any applicant. CP 2048 (9:14-23), CP 2053 (26:21-24). This time, ten

¹ Mr. Haynes states in his declaration "I was concerned about the small number of people in the applicant pool and also concerned that only two of those candidates had received high ratings from all three resume reviewers." CP 1133 (¶ 6). This statement is incorrect and misleading. Although each of the panelists rated at least two candidates "high," only one candidate, Rufin, received a "high" rating from all three panelists. *See* CP 1140-43.

applicants advanced to the resume rating stage. Ex. 1;² accord Sealed Appendix ("SA")³ at 2. There were three resume raters, and each rated Ms. Rufin "high." *Id.*, SA 2-4. This time, three candidates were rated "high" by all three raters—two male candidates, and Ms. Rufin. *Id.*

Five candidates advanced to the first interview stage with three interview panelists. Ex. 2; SA 6-8. Based on the interviews, the panelists rated the candidates "low" "medium" or "high." *Id.* Ms. Rufin received "high" ratings by all three interview panelists, as did Mr. McLean. *Id.* In the "comments" section of the 1st Interview Rating form, one panelist wrote "good/strong comm. strong manager" next to Ms. Rufin's name. *Id.* The other panelists did not write comments for any candidates. *See id.*

Four candidates advanced to the second interview stage with three different interview panelists. CP 2280-82. Hiring Manager Haynes was on this panel. *Id.* Again, the panelists could rate candidates "low" "medium" or "high" and did so on September 19, 2011. *Id.* The panelists again

² All references to "Ex." refer to the Trial Exhibits designated by Appellant.

³ Certain "confidential" documents submitted by Ms. Rufin in opposition to summary judgment were served on the City and Mr. Carrasco and provided to the trial court under a procedure specified in the Protective Order for Protection of Confidential Discovery Documents. See, e.g., CP 1946-51 and CP 153-54. If no motion to seal was filed, the order provided that the "documents will be filed, unsealed, after the expiration of ten (10) business days." Id. It appears that although no motion to seal was filed regarding the "confidential" documents Rufin submitted in response to summary judgment, the court did not file the documents. In this brief, Rufin cites "confidential" records submitted on summary judgment as "SA," and includes their designated Trial Exhibit number. Appellant will provide the court with an Appendix of the "confidential" summary judgment evidence and file a motion to seal appendix and supplement the record, if the City and Mr. Carrasco do not stipulate to her filing the appendix documents unsealed.

unanimously rated Rufin "high." However, this time she was the *only* candidate rated "high." No other candidate was given a "high" rating for the second interview. *Id.*; CP 2049-51. The panelists rated Mr. McLean as "medium" or "medium/high" and the other two candidates received "medium" ratings. *Id.* The interview rating form contains rating benchmarks, including "high: candidate portrays strong experience in most of the following areas: Management and Leadership Skills...." *Id.* Mr. Haynes was the only panelist who wrote comments on his rating sheet. *Id.* He wrote critical notes next to each candidate's name, except for Ms. Rufin, whom he ranked "high" and did not comment. *Id.* He noted that Mr. McLean "needed more depth." *Id.* Mr. Haynes told his assistant, Ms. Brown, that Ms. Rufin "did really well" at her interview. CP 1975. Darnell Cola also rated Ms. Rufin "high" using the benchmarks on the rating sheet, and thought she was a "very strong candidate." CP 2025.

Ms. Rufin then advanced to the qualification audit stage of the hiring process, indicating that the second interview panel identified Ms. Rufin as the top candidate and recommended her for hire. CP 2267-68 (¶¶ "o," 11, 12), CP2285. This occurred on or before September 21, 2011. *Id.* According to SCL Human Resources Officer, DaVonna Johnson, it is the "approval to hire" that triggers the submission of the qualification audit and other processes. CP 2064 (26:19-27:17). Thus, the paper record

demonstrates that the decision to hire Ms. Rufin for the CMEM position was made after the second interview.

The City never notified Ms. Rufin that she was recommended for hire, nor was she offered the job. CP 2307 (¶ 2).

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