NO. 72012-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

REBECCA A. RUFIN,

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE AND JORGE CARRASCO

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON APPEAL

David N. Bruce, WSBA No. 15237 Ryan Solomon, WSBA No. 43630 SAVITT BRUCE & WILLEY LLP 1425 Fourth Avenue, Suite 800 Seattle, WA 98101-2272 (206) 749-0500

Molly Daily, WSBA No. 28360

Peter S. Holmes

Seattle City Attorney:

600 Fourth Avenue, 4th Floor

Seattle, Washington 98124

(206) 684-8200

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

Here, the City articulated a legitimate, non-retaliatory explanation for why it did not hire Ms. Rufin. Specifically, following the first round of interviews, Mr. Cola and the other members of the hiring panel unanimously decided Ms. Steiner and Ms. Ooka were the strongest candidates and would be called back for second interviews. (CP 1123–24

¶¶ 5–7; CP 1062 ¶¶ 3–5; CP 1064 ¶¶ 3–5; CP 1066 ¶ 3; CP 1127 ¶¶ 3–6.)
The panel also unanimously decided Ms. Rufin was not as strong a candidate and would be removed from consideration.²³ (*Id.*)

Ms. Rufin does not attempt to rebut the substance of the City's explanation. Instead, Ms. Rufin asserts that alleged inconsistencies²⁴ in the hiring file suggest that the City's explanation is not worthy of belief. But Ms. Rufin's purported evidence of pretext does not address the major failing of her claim: no evidence connects Mr. Carrasco to the LPSM hiring process. Absent evidence the Mr. Carrasco was involved in or influenced the LPSM hiring process, no rational trier of fact could conclude that Mr. Cola's decision not to hire Ms. Rufin was retaliatory. *See Hoppe v. Lewis Univ.*, 692 F.3d 833, 842 (7th Cir. 2012) (trial court correctly granted summary dismissal of plaintiff's retaliation claim where plaintiff "failed to identify any evidence that Brogan, the person who removed her from the position, knew of her protected activity or that her protected activity was 'a substantial motivating factor' in Brogan's

²³ As Mr. Cola explained in his declaration, "Becky Rufin was a strong candidate, but not the strongest, and there were some concerns about the lack of detail in her responses to some of the [interview] questions." (CP 1124, ¶ 7.) The other panel members had similar concerns and likewise felt the Ms. Steiner and Ms. Ooka performed better during the interview process. (CP 1062 ¶¶ 3–5; CP 1064 ¶¶ 3–5; CP 1127 ¶¶ 3–6.)

²⁴ The inconsistencies are manufactured. It is misleading to argue, as Ms. Rufin does at Appellant's Brief p. 41, that Mr. Cola admitted that his statements about the process were conflicting. Mr. Cola and all the members of the panel explained the process in a simple and consistent manner. *See generally* p. 6, *supra*. The citation Ms. Rufin provides, to CP 1124, is to a portion of the pertinent and consistent record. Any tension between the explanations of those actually involved and the personnel clerk's notes is not material: nothing in the hiring file suggests Mr. Carrasco was involved in the process.

decision."); *Alvarado v. Donahoe*, 687 F.3d 453, 459 (1st Cir. 2012) ("Speaking commonsensically, our cases have in the past explained that, to successfully establish a claim of unlawful retaliation there must be, 'at a minimum, ... competent evidence that the alleged retaliators *knew* of the plaintiff's protected activity and that a retaliatory motive played a part in the adverse employment actions alleged."") (citing *Lewis v. Gillette Co.*, 22 F.3d 22, 24 (1st Cir. 1994)).

B. The Trial Court's Evidentiary Rulings Were Not An Abuse of Discretion.

"A trial court has broad discretion in ruling on evidentiary matters and will not be overturned absent manifest abuse of discretion." *Goehle v. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center*, 100 Wn. App. 609, 617 (2000) (citing *Sintra, Inc. v. City of Seattle*, 131 Wn.2d 640, 662–63 (1997)). Abuse occurs only where discretion is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *Davidson v. Municipality of Metro. Seattle*, 43 Wn. App. 569, 572 (1986). The trial court is entitled to particular deference where there are fair arguments both for and against admission. *Id.*

1. The trial court correctly excluded evidence of Ms. Rufin's LPSM claim at trial.

The LPSM hiring process was not evidence of retaliation and was not relevant to Ms. Rufin's CME retaliation claim. The trial court correctly determined that the LPSM decision was not, as a matter of law, unlawful retaliation. (CP 3660–61.) Thus, the trial court held that it

would be improper and misleading to permit Ms. Rufin to argue at trial that the LPSM hiring process was another example of retaliation against Ms. Rufin. (CP 3661; 3/27/14 RP at 81:6–82:7.) Ms. Rufin does not explain how evidence regarding a hiring process that was not retaliatory as a matter of law has any tendency to show that retaliation occurred in a separate hiring process. The evidence was irrelevant to her remaining claim and was properly excluded. ER 402.

Nor was the evidence admissible under ER 404(b) because, as a matter of law, the LPSM process was not a prior bad act. In determining whether to admit evidence of prior wrongs under ER 404(b), the trial court must, among other things, find that the prior acts were proved by a preponderance of the evidence and determine whether the evidence is relevant. *State v. Guzman*, 119 Wn. App. 176, 182 (2003). Such evidence is presumed inadmissible, and doubts as to admissibility are resolved in favor of exclusion. *State v. Nelson*, 131 Wn. App. 108, 115 (2006). Here, the evidence was not admissible because Ms. Rufin could not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the LPSM process was a prior bad act; Ms. Rufin presented no evidence from which a jury could conclude that retaliation had occurred. This alone required exclusion of evidence regarding of Ms. Rufin's LPSM application.

Finally, even assuming evidence of Ms. Rufin's LPSM application was somehow relevant, its probative value was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice and misleading the jury, confusion of the issues, or considerations of waste of time. ER 403. *See also Schulte v. Potter*, 218 Fed. Appx. 703, 709–10 (10th Cir. 2007) (trial court correctly excluded evidence related to claims dismissed at summary judgment where excluded evidence was not relevant to remaining issues); *Ryan v. Donely*, 511 Fed. Appx. 687, 692 (10th Cir. 2013) (affirming exclusion of evidence related to plaintiff's dismissed claim).

Ms. Rufin's argument to the contrary asserts that the LPSM evidence should have been admitted so that Ms. Rufin could establish a "pattern" of retaliation. (Appellant's Brief, p. 44.) A plaintiff cannot present evidence of an alleged pattern of retaliation or discrimination using claims which have been determined as a matter of law to not be discriminatory or retaliatory. *E.g., Waters v. Genesis Health Ventures, Inc.*, 400 F.Supp.2d 808, 812 (E.D. Pa. 2005). No pattern and practice case supports the use of legally-insufficient allegations to establish a pattern, and Ms. Rufin cites no authority to the contrary.

Ms. Rufin also argues that evidence of time-barred prior discriminatory acts may be admitted in some circumstances, citing *Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Washington*, 175 Wn.2d 264, 274 (2012). In

Loeffelholz, the other acts were merely time-barred, rather than wholly unrelated to the actor at issue, and thus were potentially relevant to the actor's intent. 175 Wn.2d at 274. Here there was no connection between Mr. Carrasco and the LPSM evidence, and so the evidence was irrelevant.

2. Ms. Rufin chose to offer evidence regarding the result of the Tobin investigation, and the trial court properly admitted limited evidence regarding the Tobin investigation.

As an initial matter, Ms. Rufin has waived any objection to the admission into evidence of the results of the Tobin investigation because she herself introduced that evidence to explain why she left SCL in 2006. (4/1/14 RP at 106:7–109:1, 113:15–115:5.) A party waives any objection to the admissibility of evidence "by subsequently using it for his own purposes, or by introducing evidence similar to that already objected to." Sevener v. Nw. Tractor & Equip. Corp., 41 Wn.2d 1, 15 (1952). Here, the trial court held that evidence of the result of the Tobin investigation was admissible because it was relevant to Mr. Carrasco's purported motive to retaliate. (See, e.g., CP 3662-63.) At trial, however, Ms. Rufin offered the evidence for another reason, as an explanation for why she chose to leave SCL in 2006. (4/1/14 RP at 106:7–109:1, 113:15–115:5.) Further, Ms. Rufin also admitted, over Defendants' objection, a letter containing the findings of the investigation, presumably as circumstantial evidence of Mr. Carrasco's knowledge of the protected conduct. (4/7/14 RP at 100:3–

102:8; 162:19–166:19.) By offering the evidence for her own purpose, Ms. Rufin waived any objection to the trial court's order.²⁵

Even if Ms. Rufin did not waive her right to appeal, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. First, the trial court correctly excluded Ms. Rufin's 2006 written statement. The trial court held that Ms. Rufin's written statement, as well as her deposition testimony in Davis, was inadmissible hearsay. (3/27/14 RP at 14:12–24, 16:5–17:11; CP 3516–17, ¶ 7.) The trial court therefore excluded the written statement, but permitted Ms. Rufin to testify about the majority of the facts recited therein. (*Id.*) Ms. Rufin cites no reason why this decision was in error.

Second, the trial court correctly limited Ms. Rufin's and Ms. Tobin's testimony to those matters of which they had personal knowledge. (3/27/14 RP at 16:5-17:11; 3/31/14 RP at 29:18–30:19; CP 3516–17, ¶ 7.) As the trial court correctly noted, some of Ms. Rufin's written statement contained hearsay within hearsay, and repeated allegations of which Ms. Rufin had no personal knowledge. (See id.; CP 1696–99.) The trial court therefore correctly prohibited Ms. Rufin from testifying about events of which she had no personal knowledge. ER 602; ER 801-803.

²⁵ Because Ms. Rufin offered the evidence of the investigator's finding for her own, independent purpose, the facts here are distinguishable from cases where a party offers contested evidence in order to mitigate its impact. See, e.g., Dickerson v. Chadwell, Inc., 62 Wn. App. 426 (1991). Even if Ms. Rufin did not "open the door" to such evidence by offering it to explain why she left SCL in 2006, she did open the door when she admitted, over defense objection, a letter containing the Tobin investigation conclusion.

Third, the trial court correctly exercised its discretion under ER 403 to limit the scope of Ms. Rufin's and Ms. Tobin's testimony regarding the events of 2005–06. A trial court has broad discretion to balance probative value versus prejudice under ER 403 and may only be reversed upon a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Rice, 48 Wn. App. 7, 11 (1987). The trial court recognized that the evidence regarding Ms. Tobin's prior complaint of discrimination and Ms. Rufin's participation in the subsequent investigation was admissible for a limited purpose: to establish that Ms. Rufin had a reasonable belief of discrimination in 2006, and as evidence of Mr. Carrasco's motive to retaliate. (3/27/14 RP at 16:5–17:11, 17:24–18:5, 21:4–23; 3/31/14 RP at 29:18–30:19, 65:16– 66:4; CP 3516–17 ¶ 7.) However, the trial court also was concerned that admitting too much evidence of these dated allegations would result in unfair prejudice to Defendants, may confuse the jury, and could be a waste of time. (3/31/14 RP at 16:17-20:10, 27:6-28:13.) In attempt to balance these concerns, the trial court permitted Ms. Rufin and, over Defendants' objection, Ms. Tobin to testify extensively about their involvement in the events of 2005–06, including a detailed recitation of the concerns they raised with the investigator. (See, e.g., 4/1/14 RP at 81:19–105:14, 111:21-114:6; 4/3/14 RP at 201:9-206:1; CP 3516-17.) This evidence was more than sufficient for Ms. Rufin to establish she engaged in

protected conduct, provided the necessary background to the retaliation claim at issue, and permitted her to argue Mr. Carrasco's purported retaliatory motive. The trial court did err. ²⁶

Finally, the trial court correctly held that the result of the Tobin investigation was admissible. Just as it found Ms. Rufin's and Ms. Tobin's testimony was relevant to Mr. Carrasco's purported retaliatory motive, the trial court found that the investigation results were similarly relevant to this contested issue. (CP 3662–63; 3/31/14 RP at 27:6–28:13, 29:18–30:19.) And this makes sense; assuming Mr. Carrasco knew of Ms. Rufin's protected conduct in 2006, a jury could conclude that he would be less motivated to retaliate because the allegations were deemed unfounded. Further, as the trial court noted, Ms. Rufin's own desire to present extensive testimony regarding the investigation into Ms. Tobin's complaints opened the door to further evidence from the investigation. Although whether discrimination occurred in 2006 was not at issue at trial, Mr. Carrasco's motive was, and the investigation results were offered solely to rebut Ms. Rufin's evidence of Mr. Carrasco's purported retaliatory motive. The trial court did not err.

_

²⁶ With one exception, Ms. Rufin does not identify any testimony that she believes was improperly excluded by the trial court's order. (*See* Appellant's Brief, pp. 46-49.) Further, the trial court correctly excluded Ms. Tobin's allegation of possible retaliation by SCL in 2006. Following supplemental briefing offered by the parties, the trial court held that Ms. Tobin's previously-undisclosed allegations were inadmissible under both ER 404(b) and ER 403. (3/31/14 RP at 16:17–20:10.) Ms. Rufin does not cite any reason why that decision was in error.

3. Ms. Rufin opened the door to testimony regarding the results of the litigation in *Davis*.

A party may open the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence by voluntarily raising the subject. *State v. Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. 918, 935 (2010); 5 KARL B. TEGLAND, WASH. PRAC.: EVID. LAW § 103.14 (5th ed.). The trial court has considerable discretion in this regard. *Hartzell*, 156 Wash. App. at 935; Id. As the trial court noted:

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it. Rules of evidence are designed to aid in establishing truth. To close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths.

(CP 3662, quoting State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455 (1969)).

That is what Ms. Rufin attempted here, and the trial court correctly held that Ms. Rufin's examination of Mr. Carrasco about the *Davis* litigation opened the door to evidence of the result in *Davis*. Counsel's examination of Mr. Carrasco was aimed at creating the impression that Mr. Carrasco, who was not originally a named defendant in *Davis*, was added as a defendant because of Ms. Rufin's deposition testimony, and further that he should have been highly motivated to find out why he was added to the litigation. (4/8/14 RP at 100:24–103:16.) The trial court held that this was misleading and permitted Defendants to admit evidence that

the case was dismissed at summary judgment. (*Id.* at 125:22–127:15, 129:7–19, 130:8–14; 4/9/14 RP at 4:23-28:6.) The evidence was offered only to rebut the improper and misleading questions from Ms. Rufin's counsel, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting such evidence. *Cf.*, *Hartzell*, 156 Wn. App. at 934–35.

C. Any evidentiary error was harmless.

"Error may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected." ER 103. "Error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *Maicke v. RDH, Inc.*, 37 Wn. App. 750, 754 (1984).

Even assuming the trial court erred by admitting the results of the Tobin investigation and *Davis* lawsuit, any error was harmless. Ms. Rufin admits that whether discrimination occurred in 2006 or the years prior was not at issue in this case. (Appellant's Brief, p. 48.) She further admits that Defendants did not contest whether she had a reasonable belief of discrimination in 2006, and the jury was instructed that Ms. Rufin had engaged in protected conduct. (*Id.*; CP 3529, No. 7.) The only issue before the jury was whether Mr. Carrasco retaliated against Ms. Rufin in 2011 and 2012. The facts and details of Ms. Tobin's and Ms. Davis' complaints were minimally, if at all, relevant to that determination. The

evidence of the results of those proceedings was admitted only to rebut similar evidence offered by Ms. Rufin regarding Mr. Carrasco's purported motive to retaliate.²⁷ Ms. Rufin was not prejudiced by its admission.

V. CONCLUSION

Respondents respectfully submit that, for all of the reasons set forth above, this Court should affirm the challenged rulings of the trial court. The trial court thoroughly and correctly analyzed all of the issues raised, and there is no reason to reverse her grant of summary judgment, or to conduct another jury trial of this matter.